
Vestavia Hills  
City Council Agenda 
December 8, 2014 

5:00 PM 
 

1. Call to Order  
2. Roll Call 
3. Invocation – Dave Upton, AMBUCS 
4. Pledge Of Allegiance   
5. Announcements and Guest Recognition 
6. City Manager’s Report 
7. Councilors’ Reports  
8. Approval of Minutes –November 24, 2014 (Regular Meeting) 

Old Business  

9. Resolution Number 4662 – A Resolution Authorizing The City Manager To Accept A 
FEMA Flood Mitigation Assistance Grant And Execute And Deliver An Agreement For 
Said FMA Funds 

10. Resolution Number 4663 – A Resolution Authorizing The City Manager To Execute 
And Deliver An Agreement With Schoel Consulting Engineers For Consulting Services 
For A FMA Floodplain Management Plan 

New Business  

11. Citizens Address To City Council Regarding Patchwork Farms PUD; Jeff W. Maze, 4613 
Old Looney Mill Road, On Behalf Of Residents Of The Area 

New Business (Requesting Unanimous Consent) 

First Reading (No Action Taken At This Meeting) 

12. Ordinance Number 2544 – Annexation – 90-Day Final – 2429 Dolly Ridge Road; A 
Portion of Lot 36, Rocky Ridge Estates; Lila P. Williams, Owner; Earl Gibson, 
Representing 

13. Ordinance Number 2545 – Rezoning – 2429 Dolly Ridge Road; A Portion Of Lot 36, 
Rocky Ridge Estates; Rezone From Jefferson County E-2 (Residential) To Vestavia Hills 



R-2 (Residential) For Construction Of Two Single-Family Homes; Lila P. Williams, 
Owner; Earl Gibson, Representing 

14. Ordinance Number 2549 – Conditional Use Approval – 2409 Acton Road; Conditional 
Use Approval For Operation Of A Feline Veterinary Clinic; BRC Dolly Creek Station 
LLC, Owner; Jackie A. Holmes, DVM, Representing 

15. Ordinance Number 2550 – An Ordinance To Prohibit Distracted Driving In School Zones 
And Providing Penalties For The Violation Thereof 

16. Citizens Comments  
17. Motion For Adjournment 



City Council Minutes 
November 24, 2014, 

Page 1 
 

CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS 
 

CITY COUNCIL 
 

MINUTES 
 

NOVEMBER 24, 2014 
 
 The City Council of Vestavia Hills met in regular session on this date at 5:00 PM.  
The Mayor Pro-Tem called the meeting to order and the City Clerk called the roll with 
the following: 
 
MEMBERS PRESENT:   Steve Ammons, Mayor Pro-Tem 

George Pierce  
John Henley 

      Jim Sharp 
 
MEMBERS ABSENT:   Mayor Alberto C. Zaragoza, Jr. 
 
OTHER OFFICIALS PRESENT:  Jeff Downes, City Manager 
      Patrick H. Boone, City Attorney 
      Rebecca Leavings, City Clerk 
      Melvin Turner, Finance Director 
      George Sawaya, Deputy Treasurer 
      Dan Rary, Police Chief 
      Jim St. John, Fire Chief  
      Marvin Greene, Deputy Fire Chief 
      Christopher Brady, City Engineer 
 
 Invocation was given by Lt. Colonel Allison Miller, Alabama Air National Guard, 
followed by the Pledge of Allegiance.   

 
 

ANNOUNCEMENTS, GUEST RECOGNITION, CANDIDATES 
 

• Mr. Pierce gave a brief background on Lt. Colonel Allison Miller who is currently 
on leave from deployment in Afghanistan.  He thanked Lt. Colonel Miller for 
taking the time to lead the group in prayer. 

• Mr. Pierce welcomed Linda Parker to the meeting.  Mrs. Parker is the Chairman 
of the Board for the Chamber of Commerce. 

• Mr. Ammons stated that the City Council will be conducting interviews for the 
applicants for the upcoming Library Board and Park and Recreation Board 
vacancies on December 10, 2014 beginning at 7:30 AM. 

 
 



City Council Minutes 
November 24, 2014, 

Page 2 
 

PROCLAMATION 
 
 Mr. Downes presented a proclamation in which the Mayor designated Saturday, 
November 29, 2014 as “Small Business Saturday.”  Mr. Downes read the Proclamation 
and encouraged everyone to shop his local vendors on that day. 
 
 

CITY MANAGER REPORT 
 

• Mr. Downes announced a town hall meeting to be held at the Cahaba Heights 
United Methodist Church on December 2, 2014 at 5:30 PM in order to allow 
public input for development opportunities within Cahaba Heights.  He 
encouraged everyone to attend. 

• Mr. Downes stated that stakeholders within a certain area of Cahaba Heights 
would participate in a charrette to be held at City Hall beginning Thursday and 
lasting through Friday of that same week, culminating with a public viewing at a 
Council Work Session of December 8, beginning at 4 PM. 

• Administrative offices will be closed on November 27 and 28 in observance of 
Thanksgiving holidays. 

 
 

COUNCILOR REPORTS 
 

• Mr. Henley stated that the Board of Education is beginning strategic planning 
sessions with seven action teams and a total of 140 participants.  He indicated he 
would keep the Council updated on the progress. 

• Mr. Pierce stated that the Holiday in the Hills celebration has begun.  A holiday 
schedule can be obtained from the Chamber’s website.  He encouraged everyone 
to participate in the activities. 

 
 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
 
 The minutes of November 10, 2014 (Regular Meeting) were presented for 
approval.   
 
MOTION Motion to dispense with the reading of the minutes of the meeting of 

November 10, 2014 (Regular Meeting) and approve them as presented 
was by Mr. Pierce and second by Mr. Henley.  Roll call vote as follows: 

   Mr. Pierce – yes  Mr. Henley – yes  
   Mr. Sharp – yes  Mr. Ammons – yes  
        motion carried. 
 
 
 
 



City Council Minutes 
November 24, 2014, 

Page 3 
 

OLD BUSINESS 
 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2524-A 
 
Ordinance Number 2524-A – An Ordinance Amending Ordinance Number 2425 To 

Correct A Legal Description For The Property Annexed To The City 
Of Vestavia Hills Located At 2429 Dolly Ridge Road; Lila P. 
Williams, Owner 

 
MOTION Motion to approve Ordinance Number 2524-A was by Mr. Pierce and 

second was by Mr. Henley. 
 
 Ms. Leavings explained that this Ordinance cleans up a legal description for 
annexation of property that was approved a few weeks ago. 
 
 The Mayor Pro-Tem opened the floor for a public hearing.  There being no one to 
address the Council concerning this request, he closed the floor and asked for the 
question. 
 
Roll call vote as follows: 
   Mr. Pierce – yes  Mr. Henley – yes  
   Mr. Sharp – yes  Mr. Ammons – yes  
        motion carried. 
 
 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2546 
 
Ordinance Number 2546 – Annexation – 90-Day Final – 3633 Dabney Drive; Lot 37, 

Altadena Forest Estates, 2nd Sector; William H. Jenkins, Owner 
 
MOTION Motion to approve Ordinance Number 2546 was by Mr. Pierce and second 

was by Mr. Henley. 
 
 Mr. Pierce explained that this is the 90-day final annexation of property that was 
annexed by the overnight method earlier. 
 
 The Mayor Pro-Tem opened the floor for a public hearing.  There being no one to 
address the Council concerning this request, he closed the floor and asked for the 
question. 
 
Roll call vote as follows: 
   Mr. Pierce – yes  Mr. Henley – yes  
   Mr. Sharp – yes  Mr. Ammons – yes  
        motion carried. 
 
 



City Council Minutes 
November 24, 2014, 

Page 4 
 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2541 
 
Ordinance Number 2541 – Rezoning – 3633 Dabney Drive; Lot 37, Altadena Forest 

Estates, 2nd Sector; Rezone From Jefferson County E-2 To Vestavia 
Hills R-1; William H. Jenkins, Owner 

 
MOTION Motion to approve Ordinance Number 2541 was by Mr. Pierce and second 

was by Mr. Henley. 
 
 Ms. Leavings explained that this is the compatible rezoning of the property 
annexed in the previous ordinance. 
 
 The Mayor Pro-Tem opened the floor for a public hearing.  There being no one to 
address the Council concerning this request, he closed the floor and asked for the 
question. 
 
Roll call vote as follows: 
   Mr. Pierce – yes  Mr. Henley – yes  
   Mr. Sharp – yes  Mr. Ammons – yes  
        motion carried. 
 
 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2547 
 
Ordinance Number 2547 – Annexation – 90-Day Final – 4624 Old Looney Mill 

Road; Eric And Meredith Mann, Owners 
 
MOTION Motion to approve Ordinance Number 2547 was by Mr. Pierce and second 

was by Mr. Henley. 
 
 Mr. Pierce explained that this is the 90-day final annexation of property that was 
annexed by the overnight method earlier. 
 
 Eric Mann was present in regard to this request. 
 
 The Mayor Pro-Tem opened the floor for a public hearing.  There being no one to 
address the Council concerning this request, he closed the floor and asked for the 
question. 
 
Roll call vote as follows: 
   Mr. Pierce – yes  Mr. Henley – yes  
   Mr. Sharp – yes  Mr. Ammons – yes  
        motion carried. 
 
 
 



City Council Minutes 
November 24, 2014, 

Page 5 
 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2542 
 
Ordinance Number 2542 – Rezoning – 4624 Old Looney Mill Road; Rezone From 

Jefferson County E-2 To Vestavia Hills R-1; Eric And Meredith 
Mann, Owners 

 
MOTION Motion to approve Ordinance Number 2542 was by Mr. Pierce and second 

was by Mr. Henley. 
 
 Ms. Leavings explained that this is the compatible rezoning of the property 
annexed in the previous ordinance. 
 
 The Mayor Pro-Tem opened the floor for a public hearing.  There being no one to 
address the Council concerning this request, he closed the floor and asked for the 
question. 
 
Roll call vote as follows: 
   Mr. Pierce – yes  Mr. Henley – yes  
   Mr. Sharp – yes  Mr. Ammons – yes  
        motion carried. 
 
 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2548 
 
Ordinance Number 2548 – Annexation – 90-Day Final – 1512 Oak Leaf Trail; Lot 

12, Gresham Woods; Nicholas Elkhoury, Owner 
 
MOTION Motion to approve Ordinance Number 2548 was by Mr. Pierce and second 

was by Mr. Henley. 
 
 Mr. Pierce explained that this is the 90-day final annexation of property that was 
annexed by the overnight method earlier. 
 
 Nicholas Elkhoury was present in regard to this request. 
 
 The Mayor Pro-Tem opened the floor for a public hearing.  There being no one to 
address the Council concerning this request, he closed the floor and asked for the 
question. 
 
Roll call vote as follows: 
   Mr. Pierce – yes  Mr. Henley – yes  
   Mr. Sharp – yes  Mr. Ammons – yes  
        motion carried. 
 
 
 



City Council Minutes 
November 24, 2014, 

Page 6 
 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2543 
 
Ordinance Number 2543 – Rezoning – 1512 Oak Leaf Trail; Lot 12, Gresham 

Woods Subdivision; Rezone From Jefferson County E-2 To Vestavia 
Hills R-1; Nicholas Elkhoury, Owner 

 
MOTION Motion to approve Ordinance Number 2543 was by Mr. Pierce and second 

was by Mr. Henley. 
 
 Ms. Leavings explained that this is the compatible rezoning of the property 
annexed in the previous ordinance. 
 
 The Mayor Pro-Tem opened the floor for a public hearing.  There being no one to 
address the Council concerning this request, he closed the floor and asked for the 
question. 
 
Roll call vote as follows: 
   Mr. Pierce – yes  Mr. Henley – yes  
   Mr. Sharp – yes  Mr. Ammons – yes  
        motion carried. 
 
 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2539 
 
Ordinance Number 2539 – Rezoning – 3136 Ranger Road; Lots 7 & 8, Block 6, 

Glass’s 3rd Addition To New Merkle, Rezone From Vestavia Hills R-4 
To Vestavia Hills R-9 (Planned Residential); Patricia Hanna, Owner 

 
MOTION Motion to approve Ordinance Number 2539 was by Mr. Pierce and second 

was by Mr. Henley. 
 
 Ms. Leavings stated that this request is for rezoning of two lots in order to give 
more adequate setbacks for construction of two homes and makes the setbacks consistent 
with neighboring properties. 
 
 Patricia Hanna was present in regard to this request.  She explained the square 
footage of the homes she wishes to build on the properties. 
 
 The Mayor Pro-Tem opened the floor for a public hearing.  There being no one to 
address the Council concerning this request, he closed the floor and asked for the 
question. 
 
 Mr. Sharp stated that the Commission recommended approval of the request as 
presented. 
 
 



City Council Minutes 
November 24, 2014, 

Page 7 
 

Roll call vote as follows: 
   Mr. Pierce – yes  Mr. Henley – yes  
   Mr. Sharp – yes  Mr. Ammons – yes  
        motion carried. 
 
 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2540 
 
Ordinance Number 2540 – Rezoning – 3125 Blue Lake Drive, Lot 31, Topfield 

Subdivision; Rezone From Vestavia Hills R-1 (Residential District) To 
Vestavia Hills O-1 (Office District), Lorraine Hollis, Owner 

 
MOTION Motion to approve Ordinance Number 2540 was by Mr. Pierce and second 

was by Mr. Henley. 
 
 Ms. Leavings explained that this is a request to rezone for construction of a 
professional office building.  The site plan is included in the Council’s information. 
 
 Keith Hager, representing the owner, stated that the developer wishes to construct 
a professional office building on the property and the sale of the property is contingent on 
the zoning.  The building will be a residential type structure similar to the others in the 
area. 
 
 The Mayor Pro-Tem opened the floor for a public hearing.  There being no one to 
address the Council concerning this request, he closed the floor and asked for the 
question. 
 
Roll call vote as follows: 
   Mr. Pierce – yes  Mr. Henley – yes  
   Mr. Sharp – yes  Mr. Ammons – yes  
        motion carried. 
 
 
NEW BUSINESS  
 

RESOLUTION NUMBER 4655 
 
Resolution Number 4655 - A Resolution Accepting Dedication Of The Street Known 

As Devereaux Circle 
 
MOTION Motion to approve Resolution Number 4655 was by Mr. Sharp and second 

was by Mr. Pierce. 
 
 Mr. Downes stated that the developer of the Acton Professional Park has offered 
the street for dedication.  The City Engineer has inspected the street and recommends 
acceptance. 



City Council Minutes 
November 24, 2014, 

Page 8 
 

 
Roll call vote as follows: 
   Mr. Pierce – yes  Mr. Henley – yes  
   Mr. Sharp – yes  Mr. Ammons – yes  
        motion carried. 
 
 

RESOLUTION NUMBER 4661 
 
Resolution Number 4661 - A Resolution Authorizing The Mayor And City Manager 

To Execute And Deliver A Deed To Dedicate Sewer Easements At The 
Patchwork Farms PUD 

 
MOTION Motion to approve Resolution Number 4661 was by Mr. Pierce and 

second was by Mr. Sharp. 
 
 Mr. Downes stated that one of the requirements of various purchase/sale 
agreements in Patchwork Farms is that certain sanitary sewer easements be recorded.  
This Resolution authorizes him to execute an agreement in order to dedicate an easement 
across the city-owned properties. 
 
 The Mayor Pro-Tem opened the floor for a public hearing.  There being no one to 
address the Council concerning this request, he closed the floor and asked for the 
question. 
 
Roll call vote as follows: 
   Mr. Pierce – yes  Mr. Henley – yes  
   Mr. Sharp – yes  Mr. Ammons – yes  
        motion carried. 
 
 
FIRST READING (NO ACTION TO BE TAKEN AT THIS MEETING)  
 
 The Mayor Pro-Tem stated that the following Resolutions and/or Ordinances will 
be presented at a public hearing at the Council’s next regularly scheduled meeting on 
December 8, 2014 at 5 PM. 

• Resolution Number 4662 – A Resolution Authorizing The City Manager To 
Accept A FEMA Flood Mitigation Assistance Grant And Execute And Deliver 
An Agreement For Said FMA Funds 

• Resolution Number 4663 – A Resolution Authorizing The City Manager To 
Execute And Deliver An Agreement With Schoel Consulting Engineers For 
Consulting Services For A FMA Floodplain Management Plan 

 
 



City Council Minutes 
November 24, 2014, 

Page 9 
 

CITIZENS COMMENTS 
 
 None. 
 
 
MOTION Motion to adjourn was by Mr. Pierce and second was by Mr. Henley.  

Meeting adjourned at 5:25 PM. 
 
 
 
      Steve Ammons 
      Mayor Pro-Tem 
Attested by: 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 



RESOLUTION NUMBER 4662 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO ACCEPT A 
FEMA FLOOD MITIGATION ASSISTANCE GRANT AND EXECUTE 
AND DELIVER AN AGREEMENT FOR SAID FMA FUNDS 

 
 BE IT RESOLVED BY THE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA AS FOLLOWS: 

1. That the City Manager of the City of Vestavia Hills is hereby authorized to accept 

Federal Funds in the amount of $24,999.99 under the FEMA Flood Mitigation 

Assistance Grant Program (FMA) for the 75% Federal Share of the total $33,333.32 

costs for the proposed City of Vestavia Hills Floodplain Management Plan (Project 

No. FMA-PL-04-AL-2014-003). 

2. That the City Manager is further authorized to execute, on behalf of the City of 

Vestavia Hills, a State-Subgrantee Disaster Assistance Agreement between the State 

of Alabama and the City of Vestavia Hills setting forth the terms and condition of 

receipt and use of the FMA funds for the Floodplain Management Plan Project, a 

copy of which is marked as Exhibit “A” and is attached and incorporated into this 

Resolution Number 4662 as though written fully therein; and 

3. That the City Manager is hereby appointed to act on the City’s behalf as its local 

agent/designated representative; and 

4. This Resolution Number 4662 shall become effective immediately upon adoption and 

approval.  

ADOPTED and APPROVED this the 8th day of December 2014. 

 
 
 
 
      Alberto C. Zaragoza, Jr. 
      Mayor 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 



Resolution No. 4662 - Exhibit A



Resolution No. 4662 - Exhibit A



Resolution No. 4662 - Exhibit A



FMA GRANT/FLOODPLAIN MANAGEMENT PLAN  

NOVEMBER 6, 2014 

 

 

 

 

1 

 

FLOOD MITIGATION ASSISTANCE GRANT 

The City of Vestavia Hills has been awarded funding from FEMA through the Flood Mitigation 

Assistance (FMA) grant program.  The purpose of the FMA program is to provide funds for 

projects to reduce or eliminate risk of flood damage to buildings that are insured under the 

National Flood Insurance Program (NFIP) on an annual basis.  The type of grant awarded to the 

City is specifically for planning and preparation of a flood mitigation plan.  This cost share 

associated with this program is a 75% federal share and 25% non-federal share.  The City’s 25% 

non-federal share is planned to be covered through in-kind contributions (staff time, GIS data, 

etc.). 

The consultant fee for assisting with the planning and preparation of the Floodplain 

Management Plan is equal to the 75% federal share ($25,000.00).  No out of pocket expense 

from the City is expected for this project. 

 

FLOODPLAIN MANAGEMENT PLAN 

The FMA grant will be used to develop a Floodplain Management Plan for the City.  The plan 

will be the result of a 10-step planning process developed by FEMA.  These are listed below: 

Step 1. Organize 

Step 2. Involve the public 

Step 3. Coordinate 

Step 4. Assess the hazard 

Step 5. Assess the problem 

Step 6. Set goals 

Step 7. Review possible activities 

Step 8. Draft an action plan 

Step 9. Adopt the plan 

Step 10. Implement, evaluate, revise. 

The purpose of the Floodplain Management Plan is to develop an overall strategy of programs, 

projects, and measures that will reduce the adverse impact of the flood hazard on the City.  This 

plan will be specific to the City of Vestavia Hills and the flood hazards within the City.  This plan 

will help the City’s Floodplain Manager and all of the supporting City departments better 

manage flood-related issues by developing a single document that outlines the framework for 

mitigating existing flood hazards and preventing future flood hazards.  The plan will be 

developed with input and review throughout the process by a team comprised of City staff. 

Resolution No. 4662 - Exhibit A



FMA GRANT/FLOODPLAIN MANAGEMENT PLAN  

NOVEMBER 6, 2014 

 

 

 

 

2 

 

In addition to the benefits mentioned above, the development and implementation of a 

Floodplain Management Plan (CRS Activity 510) is eligible for Community Rating System (CRS) 

credit.  The City is considering participation in FEMA’s Community Rating System (CRS) 

program.  This is a voluntary Program for National Flood Insurance Program (NFIP) participating 

communities.  The goal of the CRS program is to reduce flood damages to insurable property, 

strengthen and support the insurance aspects of the NFIP, and encourage a comprehensive 

approach to floodplain management.  Participation in the CRS provides premium discounts for 

communities that go beyond the minimum floodplain management requirements. 

The CRS Class is dependent upon the number of activities that a community implements.  Each 

activity implemented earns credits.  The total number of credits a community receives 

determines the CRS Class.  The higher the class, the greater the flood insurance premium 

discount. 

Resolution No. 4662 - Exhibit A



Resolution No. 4662 - Exhibit A



Resolution No. 4662 - Exhibit A



Resolution No. 4662 - Exhibit A



Resolution No. 4662 - Exhibit A



Resolution No. 4662 - Exhibit A



Resolution No. 4662 - Exhibit A



Resolution No. 4662 - Exhibit A



Resolution No. 4662 - Exhibit A



RESOLUTION NUMBER 4663 
 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO EXECUTE 
AND DELIVER AN AGREEMENT WITH SCHOEL CONSULTING 
ENGINEERS FOR CONSULTING SERVICES FOR THE FMA 
FLOODPLAIN MANAGEMENT PLAN 

 
 BE IT RESOLVED BY THE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA, AS FOLLOWS: 

1. The City Manager is hereby authorized to execute and deliver an agreement with Schoel 

Consulting Engineers for consulting services for a FMA Floodplain Management Plan in 

an amount not to exceed $25,000; and 

2. A copy of said agreement is marked as Exhibit “A” attached and incorporated into this 

Resolution Number 4663 as though written fully therein; and 

3. This Resolution Number 4663 shall become effective immediately upon adoption and 

approval. 

ADOPTED and APPROVED this the 8th day of December, 2014. 

 
 
 
 
 
      Alberto C. Zaragoza, Jr. 
      Mayor 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 



 

 

 

 

 

November 10, 2014 

 

 

 

City of Vestavia Hills 

513 Montgomery Highway 

Vestavia Hills, Alabama  35216 

 

Attention: Mr. Christopher Brady, City Engineer 

 

Reference: FMA Floodplain Management Plan 

  Agreement for Consulting Services 

  City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama 

 

Christopher: 

 

Enclosed is a proposal to provide consulting services for the development of a floodplain 

management plan for the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama.  This plan will follow the requirements 

associated with the FEMA Flood Mitigation Assistance (FMA) funding and the Community Rating 

System (CRS) Activity 510 guidelines.  Lehe Planning, LLC will be working with Schoel on this 

project.  

 

We appreciate the opportunity of working with you.  Please call if you have any questions. 

 

Yours very truly, 

 

WALTER SCHOEL ENGINEERING CO., INC. 

 
William R. Thomas, PE, CFM 

 

 

Enclosure 

 

Cc:  James E. Lehe – Lehe Planning, LLC

Resolution No. 4663 - Exhibit A



 

 

AGREEMENT FOR CONSULTING SERVICES 

 

BETWEEN 

 

THE CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA 

 

AND 

 

WALTER SCHOEL ENGINEERING COMPANY, INC. 

 

FOR 

 

DEVELOPMENT OF A FLOODPLAIN MANAGEMENT PLAN 

 

CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA 

 

November 10, 2014 

 

 

This AGREEMENT, entered into by and between The City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, hereinafter referred to as the 

Client, and Walter Schoel Engineering Company, Inc., hereinafter referred to as the Consultant, is for Consulting 

Services for development of a floodplain management plan for the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama.  This plan will follow 

the requirements associated with the FEMA Flood Mitigation Assistance (FMA) funding and the Community Rating 

System (CRS) Activity 510 guidelines. 

 

SCOPE OF WORK 

Schoel Engineering and its subconsultant, Lehe Planning, LLC, will develop a floodplain management plan for the City.  

The City of Vestavia Hills has been awarded funding from FEMA through the Flood Mitigation Assistance (FMA) grant 

program.  The purpose of the FMA program is to provide funds for projects to reduce or eliminate risk of flood damage 

to buildings that are insured under the National Flood Insurance Program (NFIP) on an annual basis.  The type of grant 

awarded to the City is specifically for preparation of a flood mitigation plan.  The detailed scope of work is as follows: 

 

DEVELOPMENT OF A FLOODPLAIN MANAGEMENT PLAN 

The purposes of the floodplain management plan are:  (a) to perform an overall risk assessment of flooding, (b) 

develop a strategy of goals, objectives, and measures to mitigate the flood risks to the City, and (b) prepare a 

program for plan implementation. This plan will be specific to the City of Vestavia Hills and the flood hazards 

within the City.  This plan will help the City’s Floodplain Manager and all of the supporting City departments better 

manage flood-related issues by developing a single document that outlines the framework for mitigating existing 

flood hazards and preventing future flood hazards.  The plan will be developed with input and review throughout the 

process by a team comprised of City staff.  In addition to the benefits mentioned above, the development and 

implementation of a floodplain management plan (CRS Activity 510) is eligible for Community Rating System 

(CRS) credit. 

 

The plan will be the result of a 10-step planning process developed by FEMA and detailed in the 2013 CRS 

Coordinator’s Manual.  These are listed below: 

Step 1. Organize 

Step 2. Involve the public 

Step 3. Coordinate 

Step 4. Assess the hazard 

Step 5. Assess the problem 

Step 6. Set goals 

Step 7. Review possible activities 

Step 8. Draft an action plan 

Step 9. Adopt the plan 

Step 10. Implement, evaluate, revise. 

Resolution No. 4663 - Exhibit A



 

20141107 - Vestavia Hills FMA Floodplain Management Plan.doc 2 
 

The Consultant’s tasks include managing the planning phase of the project and the development of the final 

floodplain management plan.  Also included in this scope is facilitating public meetings, developing and hosting a 

project website, assisting with the grant management, assisting with the identification and documentation of in-kind 

services to meet the required Federal match, and aiding with FEMA approval and City adoption.   

 

The final plan will be a supporting resource for the City’s participation in the CRS Program of the NFIP.  The 

Consultant will help guide the City with the CRS Program application procedures.  Should the City require 

additional assistance with CRS program management and implementation, this will be considered additional work 

and a separate agreement will be provided. 

 

All work shall be deemed completed upon the City’s adoption of the plan, following FEMA approval. 

 

Lump Sum Fee: $ 25,000 (inclusive of subconsultant) 

 

 

PAYMENT TERMS 

The Consultant will bill the Client monthly based on the following payment schedule:  20% of the Lump Sum Fee for the 

first month, 10% of the Lump Sum Fee following FEMA approval, and the remaining balance paid in seven (7) equal 

monthly payments.  Payments are due upon receipt.  The Client's obligation to pay for services is in no way dependent 

upon the Client's ability to obtain financing, obtain approval from any governmental or regulatory agencies, real estate 

closing, receipt of payment from other parties, or upon successful completion of the project.  If payment is not received 

within thirty (30) days from date of invoice, the amounts may include a late charge or 1½ % per month, calculated from 

said thirtieth (30th) day.  Should Consultant incur attorney’s fees for collection of payment, the amount owed to 

Consultant shall include any and all said fees.  Failure to make payment within sixty (60) days shall constitute a waiver of 

the right to dispute the accuracy and appropriateness of the invoice.  In addition, Consultant reserves the right to suspend 

services under this Agreement until such time as payment is made in full for all amounts due for services rendered and 

expenses incurred has been received. 

 

 

GENERAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

1) Services performed under this Agreement will be conducted in a manner consistent with that level of care and skill 

exercised by members of the profession currently practicing under similar conditions.  Plans, specifications, and 

submittals will be prepared in accordance with the written standards of the governing authorities having jurisdiction. 

Any extraordinary requirements for approvals will be considered additional services.  No other warranty, expressed 

or implied, is made. Nothing in this agreement is intended to create, nor shall it be construed to create, a fiduciary 

duty owed by either party to the other party. 

 

2) The figures given above and in the body of this Agreement are based on the Scope of Work as described herein.  If 

the above outlined Scope of Services is changed, or if there are other services that may be requested by the Client, 

these additional services will also be performed at the above unit rates, or a revised fee will be negotiated to the 

satisfaction of both the Client and Consultant at that time.  The Consultant reserves the right to adjust these unit rates 

for inflation costs on a one-year interval from the date of this proposal. 

 

3) All claims, disputes, and other matters in controversy between Consultant and Client arising out of or in any way 

related to this agreement (other than as a result of Client’s failure to pay amounts due hereunder) will be submitted to 

mediation before, and as a condition precedent to, other remedies provided by law.  Mediation shall be held in the 

county where the project is located, and if the parties cannot agree on a mediator then one shall be appointed by the 

American Arbitration Association (AAA). Parties agree to split cost of mediation 50-50. 

 

4) Services not expressly set forth in writing as basic or additional services and listed in the proposal to this Agreement 

are excluded from the scope of the Consultant's services, and the Consultant assumes no duty to the Client to perform 

such services. 

 

Resolution No. 4663 - Exhibit A



 

20141107 - Vestavia Hills FMA Floodplain Management Plan.doc 3 
 

5) Client, at its expense, will provide the Consultant with all required site information, existing plans, reports, studies, 

project schedules and similar information that is contained in Client’s files.  The Consultant may rely on the 

information provided by the Client without verification.  The Client shall participate with the Consultant by 

providing all information and criteria in a timely manner, review documents and make decisions on project 

alternatives to the extent necessary to allow the Consultant to perform the scope of work within established 

schedules. 

 

6) Consultant shall secure and maintain insurance as required by law or statutory requirements which will protect him 

from claims under the workers compensation acts and from claims for bodily injury, death, or property damage that 

may arise from the performance of his services under and pursuant to this Agreement.  Certificates of such coverage 

will be provided to Client upon request. 

 

7) All reports, plans, documents, or other materials resulting from the Consultant's efforts shall remain the property of 

the Consultant and are intended solely for the purpose of this Agreement.  Any reuse by Client for purposes outside 

of this Agreement or any failure to follow Consultant's recommendations without Consultant's written permission 

shall be at the user’s sole risk. 

 

8) This Agreement may be terminated by either party upon seven (7) days written notice in the event of substantial 

failure to perform in accordance with the terms of the agreement by the other party through no fault of the 

terminating party.  If this Agreement is terminated, it is agreed that Consultant shall be paid for total charges for 

labor performed to the termination notice date, plus reimbursable charges. 

 

9) Neither party to this Agreement will be liable to the other party for delays in performing the services, nor for the 

direct or indirect cost resulting from such delays, that may result from labor strikes, riots, war, acts of governmental 

authorities, extraordinary weather conditions or other natural catastrophes, or any other cause beyond the reasonable 

control of either party. 

 

10) The invalidity of any portion of this Agreement will not and shall not be deemed to affect the validity of any other 

provision.  In the event that any provision of this Agreement is held to be invalid, the parties agree that the remaining 

provisions shall be deemed to be in full force and effect. 

 

11) The Consultant shall not be responsible for construction site safety or construction procedures, nor will the 

Consultant be responsible for the quality of the work performed by the contractor or other consultants. 

 

12) Consultant may, at Client's request and for Client's convenience, provide documents in electronic format.  Data, 

words, graphical representations, and drawings that are stored on electronic media or which are transmitted 

electronically, may be subject to uncontrollable alteration.  The printed, signed and sealed hard copy is the actual 

professional instrument of service.  In the event of a discrepancy between the electronic document and the hardcopy 

document, the hardcopy document will prevail. 

 

 

PROPOSAL ACCEPTANCE 

 

SUBMITTED:      ACCEPTED: 

 

Consultant: Walter Schoel Engineering Company, Inc. Client: City of Vestavia Hills 

Signature:     Signature:        

Name:   William R. Thomas    Name:         

Title:   Senior Environmental Project Manager  Title:         

Date:   November 10, 2014    Date:         

 

Resolution No. 4663 - Exhibit A



 

20141107 - Vestavia Hills FMA Floodplain Management Plan.doc 4 
 

Please print or type the following information for the individual, firm or corporation responsible for payment. 
 

Company:              

Client or Client's authorized representative:          

Street Address:              

City, State, Zip:              

Phone Number:       Fax Number:        

Email Address:              

Client's Project Number:    Client's Purchase Order Number:     

Resolution No. 4663 - Exhibit A





Ordinance Number 2544 
Page 1 

 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2544 
 
 ANNEXING CERTAIN TERRITORY TO THE 

CORPORATE LIMITS OF THE CITY OF 
VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA. 

 
 WHEREAS, on the 11th day of August, 2014, a petition was presented to the 

City Council of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, proposing the annexation of certain 

property to the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, under the provisions of Act 32 of the 

Special Session on the Alabama Legislature of 1964; and 

 WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Vestavia Hills, at the time and place 

of its regular meeting on said date, made a determination that the matters contained in the 

Petition were true and that it was in the public interest that said property be annexed to 

the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of the City of 

Vestavia Hills, Alabama, as follows: 

 1.  That the following property which was described in said petition be annexed to 

the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama: 

2429 Dolly Ridge Road 
Lila P. Williams, Owner(s) 

 
A Portion of Lot 36, Rocky Ridge Estates as recorded in Map Book 28, 
Page 78, in the Office of the Judge of Probate of Jefferson County, 
Alabama, being more particularly described as follows: 
 
The Point of Beginning being the SW Corner of Lot 35 in said survey; 
thence run North along the West line of said Lot 35 for  a distance of 
289.04 feet to a crimped iron found on the South ROW of Dolly Ridge 
Road, having a 50.0 feet ROW; thence deflect 89 degrees 52’ to the left 
and run 48.39 feet along said ROW to a point, being the PC of a curve 
having a delta of 39 degrees 54’ and a radius of 130.58; thence deflect 19 
degrees 59’ 30” to the left and run 72.19 feet along said ROW to a point, 
being the PT of said curve; thence deflect 19 degrees 59’ 30” to the left 
and run 97.15 feet along said ROW to a point, said point being the PC of a 



Ordinance Number 2544 
Page 2 

 
curve having a delta of 39 dgrees 58’ and a radius of 137.5; thence deflect 
30 degrees 56’ 00” to the right and run along said ROW for a distance of 
9.80 feet to a capped rebar found L S 8759; thence deflect 83 degrees 35’ 
55” to the left and run 190.30 feet to a rebar found; thence deflect 84 
degrees 17’ 09: to the left and run 192.48 feet to a crimped pipe found, 
said point being the Point of Beginning. 

 
 2.  That this Annexation shall become effective upon the adoption and approval of 

this Ordinance in accordance with the provisions of law, after which the heretofore 

described property shall become a part of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama. 

 3.  That the City Clerk be and is hereby directed to publish this Ordinance in 

accordance with the requirements of the law and to file a copy hereof, together with a 

duly certified copy of the petition, with the Probate Judge of Jefferson County, Alabama. 

 ADOPTING and APPROVED this the 22nd day of December, 2014. 

 
 
 
      Alberto C. Zaragoza, Jr. 
      Mayor 
 
 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Ordinance Number 2544 
Page 3 

 
CERTIFICATION: 
 
 I, Rebecca Leavings, as City Clerk of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, hereby 
certify that the above and foregoing copy of 1 (one) Ordinance # 2544 is a true and 
correct copy of such Ordinance that was duly adopted by the City Council of the City of 
Vestavia Hills on the 22nd day of December, 2014, as same appears in the official records 
of said City. 
 
 Posted at Vestavia Hills Municipal Center, Vestavia Hills Library in the Forest, 
Vestavia Hills New Merkle House and Vestavia Hills Recreational Center this the 
______ day of ______________, 2014. 
 
 
 
      Rebecca Leavings 
      City Clerk 
 
 



Ordinance Number 2544 
Page 4 

 

 



Ordinance No. 2544 - Exhibits



Ordinance No. 2544 - Exhibits



Ordinance No. 2544 - Exhibits



Ordinance No. 2544 - Exhibits



Ordinance No. 2544 - Exhibits



Ordinance No. 2544 - Exhibits



Ordinance No. 2544 - Exhibits



Ordinance Number 2545 
Page 1 

ORDINANCE NUMBER 2545 
 

AN ORDINANCE TO FURTHER AMEND THE ZONING 
ORDINANCE AND THE ZONING MAP OF THE CITY OF 
VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA, ADOPTED SEPTEMBER 16, 1985, 
AND AS LAST AMENDED SO AS TO CHANGE THE CLASS OF 
DISTRICT ZONING OF PROPERTY FROM JEFFERSON 
COUNTY E-2 TO VESTAVIA HILLS R-2 
 

BE IT ORDAINED by the City Council of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, 

as follows:  That the Zoning Ordinance and Zoning Map of the City of Vestavia Hills, 

Alabama, adopted September 16, 1985, and as last amended so as to change the class of 

district zoning of the following described property from Jefferson County E-2 

(residential) to Vestavia Hills R-2 (residential):  

2429 Dolly Ridge Road 
Lila P. Williams, owner(s) 

 
A Portion of Lot 36, Rocky Ridge Estates as recorded in Map Book 28, 
Page 78, in the Office of the Judge of Probate of Jefferson County, 
Alabama, being more particularly described as follows: 
 
The Point of Beginning being the SW Corner of Lot 35 in said survey; 
thence run North along the West line of said Lot 35 for  a distance of 
289.04 feet to a crimped iron found on the South ROW of Dolly Ridge 
Road, having a 50.0 feet ROW; thence deflect 89 degrees 52’ to the left 
and run 48.39 feet along said ROW to a point, being the PC of a curve 
having a delta of 39 degrees 54’ and a radius of 130.58; thence deflect 19 
degrees 59’ 30” to the left and run 72.19 feet along said ROW to a point, 
being the PT of said curve; thence deflect 19 degrees 59’ 30” to the left 
and run 97.15 feet along said ROW to a point, said point being the PC of a 
curve having a delta of 39 dgrees 58’ and a radius of 137.5; thence deflect 
30 degrees 56’ 00” to the right and run along said ROW for a distance of 
9.80 feet to a capped rebar found L S 8759; thence deflect 83 degrees 35’ 
55” to the left and run 190.30 feet to a rebar found; thence deflect 84 
degrees 17’ 09: to the left and run 192.48 feet to a crimped pipe found, 
said point being the Point of Beginning. 

 
 
 
 



Ordinance Number 2545 
Page 2 

 APPROVED and ADOPTED this the 22nd day of December 2014. 
 
 
 
 
      Alberto C. Zaragoza, Jr. 
      Mayor  
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CERTIFICATION: 
 
 I, Rebecca Leavings, as City Clerk of the City of Vestavia Hills, Alabama, hereby 
certify that the above and foregoing copy of 1 (one) Ordinance # 2545 is a true and 
correct copy of such Ordinance that was duly adopted by the City Council of the City of 
Vestavia Hills on the 22nd day of December 2014 as same appears in the official records 
of said City. 
 
 Posted at Vestavia Hills Municipal Center, Vestavia Hills Library in the Forest, 
New Merkle House and Vestavia Hills Recreational Center this the ______ day of 
______________, 2014. 
 
 
 
 
      Rebecca Leavings 
      City Clerk 

 
 



Ordinance Number 2545 
Page 3 

 



CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS 
SYNOPSIS AND STAFF RECOMMENDATION CONCERNING 

APPLICATION BEFORE THE PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION 
 

Date:     NOVEMBER 13, 2014 
 

• CASE:  P-1014-49 
 

• REQUESTED ACTION: Rezoning Jefferson County E-2 to Vestavia Hills R-2 
 

•    ADDRESS/LOCATION:  2429 Dolly Ridge Rd. 
 

• APPLICANT/OWNER: Lila P. Williams. 3436 Crossings Way. Hoover, AL 35242 
 

• GENERAL DISCUSSION:  Property was annexed overnight by City Council on 
8/11/14 and will complete the 90 day annexation on 12/23/14. Applicant is requesting 
the rezoning as part of the annexation process and a future 2 lot subdivision. 

 
• VESTAVIA HILLS COMPREHENSIVE PLAN:  The request is consistent with 

the plan. 
 

• STAFF REVIEW AND RECOMMENDATION: 
 

1. City Planner Review:  I have looked at all of the relevant zoning / 
subdivision requirements related to this proposal, including application, 
notification, setbacks, area of lot development, etc.  Notification has been sent 
to property owners pursuant to Alabama law.  I have reviewed this request and 
find it does meet the minimum requirements of the proposed zoning.    

 
City Planner Recommendation:  No recommendation  
 

2. City Engineer Review:  I have reviewed the application and I have no issues 
with this request.  

 
3. City Fire Marshal Review: I have reviewed the application and I have no 

issues with this request.  
 

4. Building Safety Review: I have reviewed the application and I have no issues 
with this request. 

 
 
 
 
 

 

Ordinance No. 2545 - Exhibits



MOTION  Mr. Burrell made a motion to approve Rezoning of 2429 Dolly Ridge Rd. from 
Jefferson County E-2 to Vestavia Hills R-2 For The Purpose Of Annexation. Second was by Mr. 
Goodwin. Motion was carried on a roll call; vote as follows: 

Mr. Goodwin – yes   Mr. Burrell – yes   
Mr. House – yes   Mr. Sharp – yes          
Mr. Wolfe – yes   Mr. Brooks – yes     
Mr. Larson – yes    Motion carried. 

 
 
 

 

Ordinance No. 2545 - Exhibits



Ordinance No. 2545 - Exhibits



Ordinance No. 2545 - Exhibits



ORDINANCE NUMBER 2550 
 

AN ORDINANCE TO PROHIBIT DISTRACTED DRIVING IN SCHOOL 
ZONES AND PROVIDING PENALTIES FOR THE VIOLATION 
THEREOF 

 
 WHEREAS, cellular telephones, music devices and fast food have all become a large 

part of today’s culture; and 

 WHEREAS, safety concerns have risen with talking or texting on cellular phones, using 

Global positioning Devices (GPS) for navigation, listening to music while driving, grooming or 

even eating1; and 

 WHEREAS, in 2012, The U.S. Department of Transportation’s National Highway 

Traffic Safety Administration (NHTSA) indicated that observational surveys show that more 

than 100,000 drivers are texting at any given daylight moment and more than 600,000 drivers are 

holding phones to their ears while driving and that there are at least 3,000 deaths annually from 

distraction-affected crashes in which drivers lost focus on the safe control of their vehicles due to 

manual, visual or cognitive distractions2; and 

 WHEREAS, the magnitude of distracted drivers in active school zones was studied and 

conducted with actual roadside observations by a Safe Kids coalition member and using the 

Wilson score method, calculated the confidence interval for driver distraction rate with the 

results showing that one in six drivers were distracted3; and 

 WHEREAS, the same study showed that cell phones/electronics were the leading 

distractor followed by eating/drinking/smoking, reaching/looking behind, grooming and 

reading4; and 

 WHEREAS, the safety and security of children, educators, School Resource Officers and 

parents are of the utmost concern for the City; and 

                                                 
1 “Distracted Drivers in School Zones, A National Report; Department of Evaluation and Research Safe Kids USA”; 
Jurek G. Grabowski, PhD, MPH and Stephanie Goodman, MPH; p.2. 
2 www.-
nrd.nhtsa.dot.gov/About+NHTSA/Press+Releases/2012/U.S.=Transportation+Secretary+LaHood+Announces+Low
est+Level+Of+Annual+Traffic+Fatalities+In+More+Than=Sex+Decades. 
3 “Distracted Drivers in School Zones, A National Report; Department of Evaluation and Research Safe Kids USA”; 
Jurek G. Grabowski, PhD, MPH and Stephanie Goodman, MPH;; pp 6&7. 
4 Ibid; p. 7 



 WHEREAS, in 2012, the Alabama State Legislature recognized and acknowledged one 

factor of distracted driving and adopted and approved Alabama Act Number 2012-291 which 

relates to texting and driving on Alabama rights-of-way; and 

 WHEREAS, the National Center for Safe Routes to School states that “unsafe driving 

behaviors put pedestrians and bicyclists at risk.  Research indicates that the probability and 

severity of a crash taking place are strongly influenced by vehicle speed and driver attention.”5 

WHEREAS, the purpose of this Ordinance Number 2550 is to create awareness, increase 

safety and provide for enforcement for distracted driving in school zones. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF VESTAVIA HILLS, ALABAMA, that the Mayor and City Council recognize the 

dangers of distracted driving within school zones of the City and established this regulation to 

protect and improve the public health and welfare as follows: 

SECTION 1.  DEFINITIONS. 

 As used in this Chapter, the following words and terms shall have the meanings 

respectively ascribed. 

 Driver shall mean any individual in control of a motor vehicle as defined in this section. 

 Distracted Driving shall mean any activity that could divert a person’s attention away 

from the primary task of driving, including, but not limited to, talking, texting, emailing or any 

other use of a cellular phone, tablet/Ipad or any other electronic device; reading books, 

newspapers, etc., pets, loud music, food, or any other distraction that might divert a driver’s 

attention. 

 Law Enforcement Office (“LEO”) means any duly sworn officer of the Vestavia Hills 

Police Department or any officer, agent, or employee of the State of Alabama, any duly sworn 

officer of local government.  

 Motor Vehicle means any vehicle powered by an internal combustion or battery-powered 

engine, including, but not limited to, personal and commercial cars, trucks, sport utility vehicles, 

golf carts, all-terrain vehicles (“ATV”), utility vehicle (“UTV”), motorcycles, motorized 

scooters, etc. 

                                                 
5 “Getting Results:  SRTS Programs that Reduce Speeding and Distracted Driving”; National Center for Safe Routes 
To School; www.saferoutesinfo.org; p. 1. 



 School Zone means in or on the grounds of a public, parochial or private school located 

in the City of Vestavia Hills and within a distance of 1,000 feet from the grounds of any public, 

parochial or private school where designated by signage indicating “school zone”. 

 

SECTION 2.  OFFENSE. 

 It shall be unlawful for any driver of a motor vehicle located within a school zone to 

drive distracted as defined in Section 1 of this Ordinance Number 2550. 

 

SECTION 3.  FINES AND PUNISHMENT. 

 It shall be unlawful to violate any of the terms and provisions of this ordinance. Any 

person, firm or corporation violating any of the said terms and provisions of this ordinance shall 

be guilty of a misdemeanor and upon conviction shall be punished by fines and penalties as 

allowed by the State of Alabama for a misdemeanor violation for each such offense.  Each day 

any violation of this ordinance shall continue shall constitute a separate offense.   

 

SECTION 4.  SUMMONS AND COMPLAINT. 

 Pursuant to Section 11-45-9.1 of the Code of Alabama, 1975, as amended, which 

authorizes municipalities to issue Summons and Complaints in lieu of arrest warrants for 

violation of certain municipal ordinances: 

(1) Any Law Enforcement Officer may issue a Summons and Complaint to any 

person charged with violation of this Ordinance Number 2550 and release such person from 

custody upon his or her written promise to appear in Vestavia Hills Municipal Court at the 

designated time and place as evidenced by his or her signature on the Summons and 

Complaint; 

(2) The form of the approved Summons and Complaint shall be the Uniform Non-

Traffic Citation and Complaint form, State of Alabama Unified Judicial System ARJA-20, 

07/1994 or its successors.  

 

 

 

 



SECTION 5.  SEVERABILITY. 

 If any portion of this ordinance shall be held unconstitutional, invalid or unenforceable, 

such holding shall not affect the remaining portions of this chapter nor render the remaining 

portions of this chapter invalid, and to that end the provisions hereof are declared to be severable. 

 

SECTION 6.  EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 This Ordinance Number 2550 shall become effective January 1, 2015 following 

posting/publishing as required by Alabama law. 

 

 DONE, ORDERED, ADOPTED and APPROVED this the 22nd day of December, 

2014. 

 
 
 
 
 
       Alberto C. Zaragoza, Jr. 
       Mayor 
ATTESTED BY: 
 
 
 
 
Rebecca Leavings 
City Clerk 
 
 


	2014_1208CC_A
	2014_1124CC_M
	Resolution 4662
	Resolution 4663
	Ordinance 2544
	Ordinance 2545



